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SECRET

Vienna, Austria, July 17, 1961.

‘Bepwrt . on Fncounter with Soviet Secret Police

Iptroduction

Between 1934 and 1959 I visited the Soviet Union five times. VWhen I

entered the country on June 6, 1961, it was the first time that I was/%%g—
velling either on a diplomatic passport or on official business. In vi-w

.of my own long connection with Soviet affairs and the snown views of the

publication by which I am now employed I 25X1

anticipated the possibility of provocation and entered the Soviet Union
resolved not to give the Soviet authorities even the slightest cause for
counplaint. I am familiar with the history of mony cases of Americans who
‘huve either been prosecuted in the Soviet Union or expelled from the coun-
try; the pretext was usually vodka, women, espionarc or some combination
of these fiactors. I was determined to avoid trouble: 01 any of thesc counts.
Potential provocutory acts began soon after my arrival. In the Intourist
dlnlng room at Kiev I found myself alone at a table with a Russian who wanted
to treat me to vodka =-- which he was consuming liberally -- and tell me his
troubles. I finished my meal and withdrew. On wmy first day in lloscow == a
Sunday =-=- I decided to take a walk in the Gorki Park of Culture and Rest.
As I left the park I was accosted by a not unattractive blonde of uncertain
age who atﬁached herself to me and w . lked with me across the bridge as for
as the subway station. She decliured she was a widow, was lonesome and liked
my type; surreptiously she pressed into my hand a slip of paper (already pro-
pared) wilth her name and telephone nuaber, and iwvited me to visit her, I
said I would be very busy in Moscow, left her, desltroycd the slip of p:per.
There were also Lhe uéual mystcecrious and semi-mysterious telephone calls
to me in my hotel rooms; these could be brushed off without difficulty. Whe=-
ther any of these incidents was part of a delibersic cumpaign of provocution
I cannot say; they are tho stuff around wiich cases have been built in the
past. In view of what transpired subsequently, I am inclined to beclicve
that they were. '
'On June 21, with everytbing proceeding smoothly and according to plan,
I left Mascow for the Caucasus and Central Asia. As I reconstruct the situa-
tion, whoever was handling my case must have decided that the time had come
for more direct factiou. I had not nibbled on any of the usual bait and

time was getting sinorter. Orders ticreforc went out to the sccurity autiori-
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ties in Uzbekistan to trap me.

-Aftef a pleasant and uneventful three diys in Tbilisi, I flew to Tash-
kent on the afternoon of Saturday, June 24, arriving at the hotel about
930 p.me I had dinier at the restaurant on the hotel roof, tihen decided
to tuke a short exploratory walk, as is m%:custom on fay first night in a
strange city. DBy this time it was, I should think, between 11.00 and 11.30
local time, which is two hours ahead of Tbilisi time. The strects in that
. section of Tashkont are lined with trees and are not particularly well
lighted. I walked at random, intonding to make a circle of a few blocks
and return to the hotel.
| As I subsequently discovered, I had turned away from, not toward, the
center of town. The streets along which I was wialking were practically de-~
sertod; but it was a warm, bolmy evening and pleasant to be outdoors. Sud-
denly a car drew up beside me and stopped. Two husky men in civilian clothes
jumped out and approached me, the driver remaining in the cur with the motor
'idling. Without a wgrd the men seizcd me by the arm and started to lezd me
toward the car. Apparently they did not expect any resistince; in any event
I was able to wrench away from tinem and took to my heels, ducking around a
cornor, down a convenient alley, a:nd into a court-yard, where I stopped in
the shadow of & building. My assailanils obviously were not runners; I had
t.ken thenm by_surprise when I slipped from their grasp, and coon outdists-nced
them. They quickly lost the trail. I hocard them rumacging around in the
alley, but they did not cater the court-yard where I was hidden. Apparcntly
they had no flashlight; in any cvent, after a suort time their footsteps died
away, and soon afterward I hecard a motor accalerating.

I remained in my hiding place and considered my next step. It secuned
" most unlikely that this was a chance attack; if the motive were robbery, they
Would’have procoeded quite differently. I therefore concluded that I was
‘faéed with a deliberate atf;mpt to trap. If this were truc, they would prob-
"ably be waiting to intercept me on my way back to the hotel., After a pgoodly
interVJi, I crawled under a wooden gnte == ripping my shirt in the process --
and, toming out on the street, continued waliing awsy from the hotel., Uy
_ﬁhis‘time itvwas quite lute; aad coming on a large park, I decided to spend
-the rest of the night on a bench. When morning came and people began to
_ circuiate, I found my way buck to the hotel, looking rether the wo¥se for wear.
' I spent all that day, Sunday, in the hotel resting and cntciing up on

back work. .The following morniug, June 26, I made a tour of the city with
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an Intourist guide, and was off that afternoon by plane for Sasnarkand. For
me this was the end of the line; and this time they would not miss.
The Trap
‘ On the plane from Tashkent I shared a seat with a yound Uzbek who beforc
-we toolk off had coamplained loudly because he could not et a seat with his
brother, who was travelling with him. As we approached Samarkand we got
],into conversation. It developed that he was & native of the town and lived
there with his family; he owned a cur, he said ("since six of us are working"),
and offered to take me to the hotel and l.ter s .ow me the sights., I explained
to him that I was a tourist, that I expected to be met, and that Intouris
would look after my sightseeing.

Met I was, and after merely droyping Wy bas at the hotel (I had left the
bulk of my lugoage in Tashkent), I started out with a ruide on a strenuous
ltour of the Samarkand mosques which continued until carly eveaing. I had
dinaner and a bottle of the local wine at the hotel, sharing a tuble with
an Uzbek with whom I exchanged only a few words. I then decided to tilic a
stroll in the purk which adjoins the hotel -~ a kind of amuseneat perk, weil
lighted and full of pcovle. It wac then about 9 p.m. wnad Just petting dark.

‘ As I rounded a corner in the park, I almost ran into my co.uvanion from
thke plane, his brother and a very attractive young girl who was introduced as
the brother's fiéncée. Nothing would do but that I couc home with them, meet
the family and spend the eveniag. I quickly weipghed the pros aud cons,
decided the meeting had been too much of « coincidence to be planned, and,
aware of the Uzbek tradition of lospitality, accepted.

They fonnd a taxi ~- whilc they had been in Tasiikent, they explained, the
‘battery in their car had pgonc dead and they were without transportation. \Vie
drove through sowe narrow strects in the old part of town, perhaps a mile
from the hotel and near one of the mosques I had visited in the afternoon,
and stopped before a rather forbidding-looking door. Aloagside, under a
-roof, was indeed the car with the dead battery. Resassured, I stepped tihrough
the door and into a pleasant court-yard with trecs, flowers and a fountain.
n . a raised terrace next to the house some twenty people, all middle~a;ed or
clder, were eating around a long table. I was introducced to the father and
mother of my hosts, and we went off to the older broticr's room. I now
learned thet he had rccently mirried; his wife, who was toking her examina-

tions in pharmacy and had alrendy retired, was routed out of bed; and in

short ordgp,plfed Bdr Refedsk? 2603701292 CIRIRPPBOBOI8PER00030005004 1% sliced
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@liced tomatoes, sliced cucumbers and stewed chicken == remnants, I took it,
of the feést which was going on outside.

We sat around a table in the host's bedroom, ecating and sunpling the
father's homemade wine. A powerful radiox was turned on and soon tuned in
to ﬁhe Yoice of America. They said they liked to listen to the music but
were not interested in the rest of the program. At intervals variogs members
of the family made an appearance, were introduced, aud after a short while with-
drew; the father and his aged mother reméined throughout the evening, however,
and engaged me in lively conversation.

It was past midonight when I announced that it wns time for me to be get-
ting back to my hotel. ‘Ihere were some polite prote:sts; then the two brothoers
"insisted on seeing ke home. They found a taxi, and we drove off amid the ;ood
‘wishes of the assembled pguests. On the pretext that I wanted a little air be-
fore retiring, I sugpested that they drop me alongsice the park, a short dis-
tauce from the hotel; actually I felt concern for them in case tiey should be
observed Bfinging me back.

I was'dropped as requested about a block and a half from the hotel, and
they drove off. The street was a broad boulevard witn sevaral rows of itrees;
.at thiq hour it was dark and aiparently deserted, As I approached the corner
to turn into my street, three men suddenly jumped me from the shadows. This
time there was no escaping; they hit me fore and aft, and I was down in an
instant. They puumecled me, kicked me in the pgroin, ond guickly rolled me into
me:4nte a wet, muddy, open councrete drain, a drop of a couple of feet. At
this point I apparently lost cousciousness.

Ihe Charge. = Some hours later, I awoke, weuk and stiff, but with no cleorly
delined aches or pains. I was lying naked on a hard, narrow bunk in a dingy
building wnich turned out to be a militia station. Wwhen I was found to be
awake, I was given a relaxing warm bath and put bick to bed. During the bath
I made hhiinventory of my in juries: cuts about the f:ice on my nose and fore-
head and on my left foot, various bruises on the body; apparently nothing
serious., .The cuﬁsSaemed to have been treated, but were unbandaged. I slept
a while longer, then was allowed to get up and was given a blanket. 1 sat
around for a while and passed the time 6f day with the militiamen on duty;

I wds.appérently their only client, and they seemed to have nothing else to
do. There were no questions, no mention of the events of the previous night

nor of what happened next. DBy this time my mind was perfectly clear and I
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recalled the whole course of the evening up to the point when I lost conscious-
ness. One thlng was uppermost in my mind and dictated my subsequent course of
action -= the protection of my Uzbek friends.

The,mllltlamen were friendly and aticntive to my wants, althoupgh they
~provided no food. One of them, a Central 4sian, surprised me by smiling and
giving mé'the Moslem greeting "Salaam aleikom” (Pence be with you) which I knew

“from the‘Persian. In due course a t:11, thin man, probably in his ecrly thir-
- ties, with a sharp face, receding hairline and black-rimmed glasses, dressed
vln civilian clotlies, arrived and introduced himself as a representative of
Intourist. He was excited and considerubly distressed.

- Why had I got myself into such a jam, he wanted to know. It wis a
terrible thing for Intourist. Nothing like this hud ever happeaed to them
before. |

The Intourist man suggected that ne take me back to the hotel. The militia
chief was agreenble, but said 1 could scarcely appear on the strect with my
clothes: 1n the state they were in. This was news to me, but when he produced
them I was conv1nced iy sports shirt was grimy but relatively intact, with
a couple of buttons missing; my trousers cle«n, but slit open down the front
from top to bottom, my underwear torn and filthy. (I 5till have these parments
if they are d any intcrest; the shirt and underwvcar | washed out myself; the
trousers are untouched.) One shoe, 1 was told, was missing.

I said I had come for only a two day trip, and iad tnerefore left tiie bulk
of my lugrage in Yaslhkent. . ccordingly I had no cxtra clothes with me, altlough
I did have aunother pair of shoes. I usked if somm one could buy me a shirt
and a @air of slacks. After some discussion the lntourist man agreed to get
them for mej first, however, he had me sign 2a undert king to reiburce Intour-
ist for the cost.

Clad in my new outfit, wiich was uncomfortably heavy for a hot day, and
wearing the shoes which had been picked up from my room, I was driven to the
hotel and taken straipgnt to the manager's office. Here, and on all futurec
occasioné when I was under questioning, I assumed the room was bupped. Iere
I was coafroated with Mr. Burkhanov, the local Intourist director, whom I had
met the previous day on my arrival, and my Intourist rescuer, whose name I
never learned. Burkhanov is of medium neight, stocky build, probably in his
late thirties. Dour, suave, unexcitablg, he has a slight Asian cist of fea-

tures,Jwears a black Uzbek skull-cap.

-  What happened? he wanted to know, as colle : his head sadly.
‘ Approved For Release 20@@1@@#&0% 361675 R00E000666PEs y
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-1 had anticipated this question, of course, aand was ready for it. To pro=-
tect my Uzbek friends, I had decided to feipn a complete lapse of memory. I
said I had had dinner at the hotel, had drunk a bottl: of wine (the brand was OK),
‘had gone for a walk in the park. After that 1 remembered nothing.

Burkhanov found this hard to belicve. IHow could I konk out on one bottle
of wine? I explained that I had been travelling a lot aad was worn out (I
~ looked it), had had a heavy day, touring Tashkent in the morning, flying to
'Samarkand, touring Samarkand in the afternoon, found the heat oppressive, was
~not used to Uzbek wines.
| - Had I drunk more in the park?
~ Not that I recalled.

~ Had I met anyone and gone off with them?

Not thot I rememberecd.

This was my story and I stuck to it, then and through all subscquent in-
vestig:tions. I have wondered wnether things would have turned out differently
had I admitted spending the evaning with my Uzbek friends. Certainly by pleading
lapse oflmmmory I was open to any charges the police might care to frame without
-being in a position to dispute tnem. DBut I am inclined to believe thut identi-
fying them would only have resulted in the implication of friendly and hospitable
people without appreciably infiuencing the outcome.

In any event I am satisfied that the police had no knowledge of my evening
with the Uzbeks. At no time throughout the investigation was therec mention of
ﬂﬁem or any suggestion that I had spent the evening in their company. [y hunch
is thut my departure from the hotel after dinacr was noted and that goon squads
were posted at both ends of the block in which tiae hotel was located to intere
cept nme whenever I returncd there. Jlrom my habits they knew thzt I would in
all likclihood be on foot.

Burkhanov did not puryfe the subject further. lie said that it was very em-
barrassing for Intourist when their clients got into trouble with the police,

_siﬂce they were supposed to look after them. He was sorry I had got into this
agss, and he was afraid I was in serious trouble. The police would want to
talk to me.

I remained in the manager's office, where I w.s to spend the entire day,
one of the Intourist men being with me at all Limes. Lt was approaching midday
-and petting steadily warmer. 1 had been offered no food or opportunity to o

to thu washroom; I was unshaven .und uncomfortable. DBut I felt surprisingly
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calm and collected; it was thoupgh tnis were a clinical experiment at wnich
I was an observer, not a participant.

At perhaps twelve noon or later -~ my time sense for this day is not
very clear, and I did not have a watch -~ two men 1 had not seen before en-
tered the room and were joined by my two custodians from Intourist, One of
the newcomers was short, stocky, with smooth black hair, dark eyes, an olive
skin. He may have been a Central Asian, or more lixely a Caucasian; 1 do not
think he was Russian. le turned out to be a colonel of the militia. The other
man was a militia lieutenant; short, sliim, typicrl kussian features with blue
eyes and light, wavy hair. His function was to kecep a transcrivt of the pro-
ceedings, a task to which he addressed himcelf assiduously; he uttered not a
word.

The colonel asked what had hanpened, and I ren%eated the account 1 had
given Burkhanov. When I had finished he first grumbled at the discoafitted
Intourist men that they should take better care of their clients; why hadn't
 they proposed some way for wme to spend the evening. They mumbled something
about my having finisled the tour of the city late and their thinking I would
‘be worn out. Then, addressing me, the colonel said tnhut I was in a bad way.
The previous night I had attemuted to assault a woman on the street. This
was a criminal charge in the Soviet Union. If brought to trial and convicted
"I would be liable for a prison sentence. Did I admit that I had made such
an attempt?

I denied any knowledge of it.

The colonel then ordered that I be confronted by my accuser, and a woman
‘of about 35 was brought in -- russian, of medium height, well built and, bx
Russian standards, well dressed. ©She was asked for her story. Her name, she
said, was Svetlova. She had been relurning home by bus from a late movie.
When she got off the bus, she was seized from behind by a man who tore her
dress and attempted to assault her. She had screamed for help, and a young
‘man and woman had rushed to her assistance. The attacker had then run off,

iime. Svelova. looked unhappy. As sie told her story, she occasionally
wiped a tear from her eye.

| « Did she recopnize me as her assailant?
- :Sheldid.
. = How could she tell? Wasn't it dark?

._; It was dark, but she was sure. The man was tall and had a mustache.

Did T recoghnize tihis woman?
Approved For Releaseggﬁi{ »CIA-RDP80B01676R000800090011-5
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- No, to the best of my kuowledge I had never seen her before.
I was asked whether I wis prepared to apologize for my actions and to

reimburse Svetlova for the cost of her torn dress. I was now confronted with

'1-a dilemma. I did not wish to do anything that could be coanstrued as a cone

fession of guilt, even by iaplication. On the other hand, &ccording to my
_story,-I was unable to account for my actions after 10 p.m. I decided that
the chances for dropping the charges were better if I played along instead of
resisfing; I thereupon agreed, apolojized to Svetlova for aaything I may have
‘done unwittingly, while deaying any knowledge of the alleged assault, and said
I would pay for a new dress.

- How much was it worth? srhe was asked.

She hemmed and hawed and allowed that it was a good dress. DBurkhanov
. cut her short, sajing they would decide what it was worth.

There now followed the prep«ratipn“of a protocol, dictated by the colonel
and painfully written down by the lieutenant. 1n effect it recited the charge,
my denial, the fact of my apology and apreement to pay for the dress. Aifter
it was read over, the secound Intourist man interveued and showed what struck
me as surprising initiative; he insisted that various vassages wére not
strictly accurate and should be toned down, always to my advantage., This
done, the protocol was signed by the two police officers, Svetlova and myself.

The colonel asked whether I had eaten; on learaing that I had not, he
ordered that I be served, tiicn left with Svetlova and the lieutenant.

Thot was all. No witnesses were produced, not even the couvle which
wos allepged to have come to Svetlova's rescue. The protocol simply recorded
-her accusation and my denial.

I ate some scrambled egzs and bread, coasu:2d a bottle of mineral water,
and scttled down to another long wait. Now thut I knew the line of Soviet
a%tack, I had some decisions to make. Thus far the examination had been con=-
" ducted éntirely in Russian. Should I iasist on speaiing Lnplish? Should 1
dedand legal counsel? Should I request permission to inform the Lumbassy in
Moscow? My answer to all these queslions was in the negative. I felt reo-
sonably coanfident that sooncr or later this phoney charge would be dropped,
and that my best course was to aveid anything which would complicate or for-
malize the proceedings. If I iasisted on speaking znglish, on interpreter
would be necessary; this would leupgbhen the interropations, aad introduce
the possibility of error or misunderstauading fron poor translution. My

Russian was quite adequate to deal wilh the situation, but not fluent enough
Approved For Release 2003/01/29 : CIA-RDP80B01676R000800090011-5
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to permit the kind of detail in which T mipht indulze if I were speaking
English. 1t seemed desirable to keep my statements as terse and brief as
posuible; and using Russian would coatribute to that end,

The idea of legal counsel I rejected because at best I could only pget
a Soviet lawyecr, and they are not noted for providing any gre.t assistance
to their_clientﬁ, particularly in cases when the client is a foreigner. 4s

for the Lmbassy, I knew that if it were informed My cuase would take on inter-

" national aspects which would make it much more difficult for the Soviets to

.drop it, if they were so minded,
None of these decisions W irrevocuble, and I felt that I could make
any or all of these demands at a Later date if the occrsion seemed to warrant.

First Interropation.

The afternoon wore alonyg slowly, with no indication as to what would
happen next., I amused myself by reading a book describing the Samarkand
- mosques, aund occasionully addressed a question to the Intourisxt man who
had intervened in by behalf, who was with me most of the time, or aslked him
the me&ning of o word that was new to me,  1Minally, in a burst of imprtience,
he asked me how I could concern myself with trivialities when, he implied,
my freedom was 2t stake. I did not toke it quite that seriously; I can only
suppose that he believed the charge,

In the late .fternoon I was told th-t I would be visited by a rcﬁre-
sentative of the municipal council (Gorsoviect). This wus to be my touphest
interrogation, and my nerves were beginning to fray. I have only a hazy
recollection of nis externsl Appearance ~- he was Russian, blond, heavy-set -=-
and I did not leurn his naie. lle was hostile from the outset, and though
I had resolved to keep a tight mrip on myself aad not allow nyself to be
needled, I reacted accordingly, It was a trying hour -- or more. ]

Without preliminaries (both Intourist men had withdrawn and ;Was alone
with him) he opened a briefcase and threw on the table 8 or 10 prtographs -
standard Soviet police practice in trapping cases. iy suspicions that I was
dealing with the sccret police were ilamediztely confirmed. "The photos were
pretty awful; most of them had obviously been taken at the militia station,
in one my limp form was being lifted from the drain. In a couple I was re=-
ceiviug medical treatment from n woman doctor; in all I was dirty, bloody,
"in various stages of undress. No sign of Svetlova, I noticed; nothing that
would substoutiate an assault charge. If anything;; I looked like the victim,

. not the pefpetrator.
B Approved For Releagéf)&lﬁ : CIA-RDP80B01676R000800090011-5



y.2

o Approved For Release 2003/01/25%01676R00080009001 1-5

-~ How would you like it if these photographs were published?

I wouldn't, of course.

[ {

vThere are others from Tashkent, where you insulted and picked a fight with

é JapaneSe.delegation, staying out all night and returning to the hotel at

. elight o'clock in the morning,

S50 that was the Tashikent version. I had not even seen a Japanese in
Tashkent. He produced no photos to support his allegations. I denied them.

- You have committed a crime under Soviet laws. If coavicted you can be
sentenced for from five to eight years imprisoament. Do you understand what
that means?

I said I thought I understood. I was sorry if I had violated goviet law;
I had had no intention of doin;; so. I had no knowledge of the acts with which
I was charged., If_I were convicted I would have to take the consequences. But

I'thought they were making a mistake,

RS

_g'--.HOW’so?

- IfrI am imprisoned on these charges it can only damage Soviet-American
relations.
- That is not the point. The pcople demand justice.
I was tempted to ask what pcople, buit restrained myself.
Then, in a different tone, he asked:
- You were not thinkiung of ioviet-imerican relations when you did intelli-
gence work in Germany?
‘. He had obviously had access to my file.
- .1 nev:r did intellipence work in Germany or elsewhere.

-~ You were statiosed in Berlin from 1949 to 192, (My original assignment

._was Berlin, but I actually served in Irankfurt. The Department, Directory

carried my assi,nment as Berlin).
- I wos never stolioned in Berlin. During those vears I served in Frankfurt.
- You did infelligence work.
- I worked for the Department of State, as I did throughout my Government
service.
v’- You en;aged in anti-soviet activities,
o . I carried out my instructions. I suppose you may say, if you 1like,
“that all U.S. Government officials are engaged in anti-Soviet activities
up to a point.
- You are now a journalist?

l::" I aie

Approved For Release zoogé(ge i:_{CE.-lRDPSOBM676R00080009001 1-5
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-~ For whom do you work?

t

“.. = I suppose you write what tney tell you to.

- _No one tells me what to write., I write about things as I see themn.

- Your articles are anti-Soviet?

- I wouldn't say so. I have long been a stucéent of Soviet affairs. I
try to be objective.

-~ What did you write about Powers and the U-2?

= Nothing, I was in Africa at the time.

= What did you think about it?

- Personally I thought it was badly timed.

=~ Where were you in Africa?

- South Africa and the Congo,

-~ What did you write about the Soviet Uniou in the Counpo?

=~ That it was interfering in the internal affairs of the Congo and trying

to set up a communist-coantrolled slooge povernnent.

.= VWhy did you say that?

-~ Because Lumumba was surrounded by communit advisers and the Soviet Union
furnished planes, trucks and arns to lLis forces in the Lasai, bypassing the U.N.

- You could prove this?

- I thought the evidence was convincings,

- What wou1d happen to your career in Jjournalism i€ these photos were
published? You would be ruined.

=~ I dbn't suppose they would help.

He then osked whether I was missing anything after lust night's incident.

I normally carry in my trousers' pockets a change purse, credit card container,

~pen knife and handkerchief. vhen'I recovered my clothos the pockets were empty.

I enumerated the missing items.
= Was I sure that I had token them with ne?

- No, I could not be positive. I had only intended to go for a sirort walk.

lle now summoned Burkhanov and ordered Lim to take me to my room and see

if the missing articles were there., I discovered that I had been moved into
the next roonm along with my belongings; they were few, since I had only one
small bag. (I had reported the d:y before that water w.s dripping from the
ceiling of my buthroom. This lenk was given as an explanation for the change
in rooms, but I noted the next morning that my old room was occupied by an-
6ther Americapy)
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, I cast a quick glance over the shelves on which uy things were arrayed.
I normally have a place for everything, especially when truvelling, and ex-
'pect things to be in tineir place, I did not see the missing items, and said
‘so to Burkhanov, He did not insist, and we returned to the office to report
lack of success., The result was an wngry outburst.

- Had we searched the place thorouphly? Had we looked in the bag?

We admitted we hadn't and were sent back upstairs to try again. This
time they were thare, big as life, with the exception of the penknife, one
shelf below tleir usual resting place,

When we came back tihis time to report success, the reaction was anything
but one of satisfaction.

~ Why did you say they were not there? You siuply wunt to write that the
Soviet autiorities stole your belon;ings.

An interesting straw in the wind, I tnought. So I was still going to
have a chance to write again!

I am still puzzled by this iacident and fail to see how it fits into
the case. . While describing the "missing'" articles I had had to explain at
sone lengpth what credit cards were and waat they were used for. I am quite
prcbared to believe that I did not take them with me when I weat out the
evening before, and cven that I overlooked them on my first vieit to the room,
fdr by that time I was pretty shaky. But it is hard to believe Burkhanov
would not have spotted them. I can only think that they attributed soume
special sipgnificance to th:z credit cards and decided to raturn them ouly
after they had been renssured.‘ The clianpe purse must have be:n mcrely in=-
cidental, As for the penknife, it probably wos in my pocket and got lost
in the melee. '

The Petition.

The interrogation closed ou this note, and 1 was aprain left to my
thoughits. In a short time Burkihanov came back and aunounced that there
Would be nothing more that day and thet I could go to my room. I had hardly
got there when there was a knock on the door and Purkinanov and his colleague
entered. They werc again in a stale of considerable excitement., I had made
a good impression on the militia colonel, they said, but the last interroga-
tor was very antagonistic. Svetlova had miade a bad siowing, but she would
probably talk and the story would quickly be all over town. 1t was impera-
tive thut the case not be presented to the local prosccutor; if it were,
the trial would be heid in Samarkand and e odds would be oll against me,
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They theréfore 5trbngly advised me to submit a petition to higher suthority
requesting thut criminal charges not be preferred against me. 1n that way
the cose would be transferred elsewhere, out of Sauarkand. But it was ne-
cessary to act quickly -- that night.

Again the quandary: if I submitted the petition, L again coniessed puilt
by implication. But I could see the desirability of referring the case to
higher authority, who would be norc likely to see the iapliecations; and I
knew that petitions were a commoi device in the Sovict Union and frequently
produced results, 1 tuerefore accepted their prrxiimxk advice aud we cet
about drafting the petition., The first question was to whom it should be
addressed. We eventually decided against the Supreme Sovi t ol tae UH.B.R,
and settled on the Supreme Soviet of the Uzbek 5.,5,R, in Tashkent. After
some further discussion Burkhanov dictated a draft which his colleague took
down. We worked it over again, cleaning it up and boiling it downj; in its
final version it consisted of three short puragraphs requesting, in effect,

thet criminal charges not be preferred against me becuuse 1) I was a foreign

‘visitor, 2) of my age and station, 3) I was worn out snd not respounsible for

my actions, 4) anything 1 had done was unintentional, I copied it off in
my own handwritipg in Russian, and they were off. They promised to let me
kaow the results that evening.

when I was finally alone I began to wonder whetuner the Intourist men
were parf of the act or whnether they were acting independe:lly. I concludced
that the latter was probably the c.ce, not because of any concern for ne
(although I do believe that in the course of tie day they had dev:loped a
certain syupathy for me), but because their own skins werc at stake -- possibly
nore so than mine. Certainly it was in their interests to et me and the
case out of their jurisdiction; aud certainly, in tite light of subsequent de=-
velopments, their advice was sound.

At about 10 p.m. Burkhanov's colleague returncd with a look of reiliefl
vand told me that the petition was on its woy to PTashkent by air messenger,
I was to check in with Burkhanov the next morning for further instructions.

I.slept well that night and awoke the next morniag feeling refreshed
and relatively fit. When I colled on Burkhanov, 1 tound him in a jovial
mood. -kHy petition had been taken under consideration, he informed me, nnd
I wus to leave for Tashkent that aftcrnoon. Upon srrival 1 should call

30994 and ask for Vasili Ivanovich. He would take it from there.
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I'wénf to the bank to cash a check, returned to pay off nmy débts to
Burkhanov (37 rubles ($40.00) for Svetlova's dress, 34.45 rubles ($37.,00)

for my new slacks and sport shirt, for both of waich I have receipts),

‘took fond and friendly favewell of him, and at 2 p.m., June 28, left

for the airport accompanied by my regular Intourist guide.,

S Inte ti

. For-'the only time in my flying experience in the Soviot Union, the

plane (a shuttle flight from Tashkent) was late and we were forced to wait

around the airport. Suddenly I saw the militia colonel of the previous day,

smilihg and friendly. He was accompanied by a woman whom he introduced as

nis wife, said he had come to the airport to meet some friends who wero coming

in on my plane. He invited me to have a cold drink -- the day was pretty hot -=

and we had a long chat. In‘the course of our convers.tion he alluded to his

colleague whom I was to meet in Tashkent, srid his name was Lyubakov, that he

was a réasouablé fellow, and adviéed me to be honest nnd straight-forward with

him. He further suggested I request that the offensive photos be destroyed,
Arriving at Tashkent in the late afternoon, I was met at the airport by

ny former guide and taken to the same hotel, where Intourist immediately sug-

gested that I might like to go to the theater that evening. I agreed. Upon

Egaching’my room, I phoned Vasili Ivanovich, wino said he would be in touch

With me the following day. I then examined the buggzape I had left at the

hotel to see if it had been searched; I found the psipers in my brief-case

 disarranged, and am satisfied that a search had been conducted. Thit evening,

unaccompanied, I saw au Uzbek opera at the theater across the square from the

hotel.
It was 5 p.m. the following afternoon before Vasilij Ivanovich phoned.

'L had spent a frustrating day in my room, resting and considering my plight.

He coslled from a room in the same hotel where he :isked me to meet him. This

]

was another Russian, in appearance not unlike my interrogator in Samarkand;

. probably taller and heavicr-set, stern without giving un impression of hos=

tility.  The interview was short. I had conducted myself in ﬁnseemly fashion

in Tashkent and Samarkand. Ille had seen the photos, wiiich were revolting.

What did‘I propose?

- I Have alreudy expressed my regret for whuat has happened and hereby do

80 again. 1 had no dintention of violnting any Soviet law, and was unable

“to explain my conduct., I proposed 1) thuat the eriminal cuse be dropped,
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2) that T be permitted to continue my trip as planned, 3) that the evidence
which‘they'had assembled not be published, I felt confident that if I were
permitted to finish my trip there would be no further incidents.
: Vasili Ivanovich replied that I wus impertinent, that I could not cxpect
to violate Soviet laws and then just walk away. Ile thought it better, however,
' if he pasied the case along to Moscow, There I should get in touch with
Vliadimirk Alekseewich (phone no. K5-94-61). He advised me to adopt a busi-
ness~like attitude.

- We admire American business men, he said.

Ithought I understood what he mcant.

-~ .Can you be. ready to leave within an hour?

I could and was. At 7 p.m. I was en route to the airvort, snd soon
afterward was airborne for roscow. It was a relief to sec the last of
Central Asia,

Third Interrogmation.

No one met me in iioscow. After piciking up my bag .age I checked in with
Intoufisf at the airport and was assigned to llotel Natio.al, where I received
the plushiest room I had had on the trip. The followius morning I called
Vladimir Alekseevich and reported inj; he said he had not had time to study
the file and asked that I call later in the day. The sccond time he was
tied up in a meeting and put it off until the next day. I went to the
Embassy to pick up my mail, but deliberately avoided sceing any of the officers,
preferring first to test the loscow climate. ‘he afternoon I spent alone at
the Exposition, which I had not previously visited; in the eveniag I did not
go out,

The next day, July 1, wius a Saturday. In thz late afternoon I received
a phone call and was asked to report to the hotel mana:er's office. There I
found Vladimir Alekseevich and another man, who turned out to be Vladimir
Mikhailovich (I assume tiese were all cover names). The first Vladimir was
"a secret police operative; a big man, over 6 ft. tall, a heavy build, shaved
head, a broad face with sharp features, earnest but polite. Vladimir -Mikhailo=-
vich, i decided, was probably in counter-intelligence and hud obviously served
in Washington. He was about ft. 8 in., inclined to put on weiplit (as he soid
himself), smooth Wack halr,IatHé:v§3r%fgeP31 3‘%5&&%&& §: xcrm$us£ache/ lie
wore well-tailored Viestcrn clothes, expensive ties, sanoked Kent cipgarcttes.

We never spoke knglish, but he obviouély knew the language; he also knew
Woshington and was well briefed avout me, the wmbassy ia iloscow, the Depart-

ment and thﬁ#\[ﬂﬂ'ﬂved Ebp Rétedser2603/0¢/201r0ArRDPBOBONET6RO0080089001M,5 and I
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1 sdré:I could identify his photograph.
The policeman sat.behind a large desk; Vladimir iikhailovich was scated
the same 5g;de asiﬁe, rother in the shadow. Vladimir Alecksecvich began

questioning. He had been through the file. The charges against me were

serious. Conviction would entail a sentence of five to eight ye.rs imprison-

',mént. What did I propose?

" pro

per

cou

My initial reaction.to tnis question was always the same: What do you
pose? But I suppressed it. I propocsed that they drop the charges and
mit me~to complete my trip. ''he atmosphere was decidedly chilly. 1

1d hardly expect them to accept this proposal, said Vladimir Alckseevich

sternly, unless 1 was prepared to be cooperative. 1 recplied that 1 did not

consider myself to be at fault and thut I felt it wonld be in the best inter-

ests of both sides if my proposal were accepted.

-

wa s’

the

You have been in the Soviet Union beforec, s~id Viadimir ilckseevich.
Five times. ' '

Tell us about those trips.

I rapidly ran through dates and purpose of each trip, feecling that 1
covering ground with which they must be thoroughly familiar. Then for

first time Vladimir Hikhailovich spoke up. 'henceforth he dowinated the

interrogalion.

-

You have done intelligeuce work.

w No, wihile I was in poverument 1 always worked for the Department of State.

Whom did you work for in Germaany”

The Department of State.

Vhat did you do there?

I was attacued to the Office of the U.S. lligh Commissioner for Germany.
What did your work coasist of?

I prepared.reports and analyses.

On what?

T read Soviet publications and prepared reports on conditions in the
Soviet Union.

And interviewed Sovict rcfugees?

OCCasionélly, when one happened to be available. 'Lhere were veey few
at that time.

You reported to the Office of ltesenrch and Intelligence.

No, I wos attached to the stuff of the High Commissioner and worked out

- of the Office of _astern Buropean Aftairs in the Department,.
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- "Don't you‘consider th.t you were doing intelligence work?
- - No, I consider I was doiag political work.

- Ve would call it intelligence work.

-  Perhaps it is a matter of definition. In your view, I take it, any
"diplomatiwho preparcs political reports, estimates, analyses, engages
in intelligence work.,

- bid you ever work for CIA?

- No.,

'-.-Have you had conltacts with them?

-~ I had some coatacts when I was stationed in Washiagton.

-~ Did your reports from Germany go to U1LA?

- They may have been on the \ashington routing. I'he reports were intended
primarily for the Department and the High Commissioancr, who wanted his
indepéndent sources of information about the Soviet Union.

- What did you do in Washington?

~ I was Director of the Office of wastern kuropean affaivs?

"= What did you consult CIA about?

'« They consulted the Departuent about some of tieir operations in bastern
 Durope.

‘- Like dropping agents? We catch them all.

- No. Propaganda type operations.

- Things like U-2 flights?

- No, I was never consulted about what I would coll espionage operations,

Perhaps other levels in the Department werec. 25X1

25X1.

- With cameras? We shot one down.
"= No, with pﬁmphlets.

- What came out of the consultatious?

- "The Department and CIA were often at odds. Ve often felt that the
proposed opcrations would be counterproductive, would not serve u. S.
interests.

-~ Who prevailed?

- Usually CIA.

-  Why?

- It 's hard to say. They carry a lot of weight in Washington. My

views were soametimes not supported by my superiors.

- Why did you retire at such an early age?
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I had 26 years of service and could retire on a 1iberal pension. If

I wanted to take up another type of work, as I did, it seemed time to
make the move. 1 was not entirely happy in the service.

Why not?

I found diplomatic 1ife increasingly artificial. I disliked the social
obligations. 1 was sonetimes in disagreement on matters of policy. And
T was strongly opposed to wristonization?

What's that?

The incorporation into the career Foreign Service ol large number< of
Departmental employees, many of whouw 1in my opinion were not qualified
for Foreign Service Jjobs.

You have friends in the smbaspy herc?

1 know some of them; mostly the senlor people.

Whom?

The Ambassador, with wnom I served here during part of the warj l'rcers,
who is leaving, and ricSweeney, his successorj K1LOSS0N, Tuch, whom 1

mot when I was here with the Ice Show in 19Y9, Ramsey, Morrell, who
was with the Naval sSection of the Military Mission during the war,
Stanley Brown, whio was assigned to one of tine Soviet delegntions 1
acdompdnied in the States.’ I've met a lew of the others on this trip.
Does[::::::]work for CIA?

I don't kaow. 1 don't think he iB 2 career Foreign service officer.

He openly Bays he doese.

Perhaps B0«

pidn't Klosson formerly work in the Office of Resesrch and Intclligence?
Yes.

What did he do thoere?

I believe his last position was Director of the ofrice of Soviet Affulrse.

- Intelligence?

By your definition?

And by yourss Why do you keep sending pcople to the lmbassy from the
Office of Research and Intelligence?

Mdny people from that Office were taken into the Foreipn Service under
the wristonization progran and are now rull-fledged foreign Service
officers. They are sent to toscow beccause they have a paclkpround and
specialized knowledge in Soviet affairs.
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- \Who else in the Embassy works for CILA?

- I have no idea?

- Brown?

~ I thought he was from the Department of Agriculture.

-~ That's what he claims.

- I don't know.

- Were you asked to undertake an intelligence miscion on this trip?

- No. | |

- Dld you confer with CIA before you left?

- No.

- Vouldn't it Ve natural for CIA to want to entrust someone with your
bockground and knowledge of Russian with a mission when they knew you
were going to be travelling around the soviet Union? Why wouldn't
they use youz

~ Perhaps it seems naturcl to you; it doesn't to me. I have no contacts
whatsoever with CLA. As far as 1 know, they were not even aware that
I planned to make the trip.

- Don't they recruit newspapermen as apents?

- I know nothing about their re .cruiting practices. 1 accept the possi-
pility that they may recruit anyone, inciuding newspapermene. They
have not approached me.

- Have you told the imbassy about your troubles?

" = 1 have not.
- Why did you gO to the Embassy yesterday?
~ To collect my mail. (I had assumed that my moveuents, at least my
» visits to the ILmbr ssy , would be reported, and ned deliberctely made
my cuil short and waved a nandful of mail at the guards as [ left.)
The interview, which ran about two hours, ended on this note, and I
' wés told that tiey would be in touch with me again., Fron the trend of
the questioning it secmed to me that they were building up to some kind
of & proposition which I would have to reject. 1f it came to that, I might
indeed be foced with a prison senteunce. I therefore felt that the time had
‘come.to inform the mnmbassy and to make certain personal dispositions in case
thingé turned out badly.
“I rpent the evening preparing a 1ist of directi&gs for the ordering
bf-my pﬂrsonal affairs in the event that I was detained for a period of

years j The next day, & gundny, I called at the bm-
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bassy. 1t beiug Sunday, neither the imbassador nor the Minister-Counselor
was in his office. I prepared a three-page handwritten statement for the
‘Ambassador'outlining the highlights of my experience and left it with the
Marine guard on duty, along with explicit instructions for the ordering of
my personal affairs for the event that the case shovld turn out adverselye.
At tuis stape in the proceedl igs, with the outcoue still uncertain, this
seemed to be a wise measure ot precaution.

‘Second Moscow Interrogation. = 'he following morning I received a tele~

phone call from lr. McSwecney, the inister-Counselor, inviting me to tre
Independence Day reception at the ismbassy the following afternoon, He was
‘ very brief and matter-of-fuct, but the cnll itself was an adequate indica-
:tion_to me .that my message had been received (in it I had given my room
number at the hotel). I spent most of the day preparing further letterc
of instruction =-- to members of my family, to my banks, broker, real estate
agent =-- which I planned to leave at the wmbassy at the first opportunity.
In the late afternoon I was summoned to another session in the hotel mana-
ger's office with the two Vladinmirs.
hhy had I gone to the Lmbassy the preceding day? was the first ques=-

tion. 1 explained that I was concerncd with the conduct of my personal af-
fairs if, as had several times been threatencd, 1 was sentenced to imprison-
ment for a term of several years; that 1 had tnerefore prepared certuin ine-
 struct1ons which were to be held pending further word from mej; if they did
not hHear from me within ten days, the instructioans were to be ovened and
“acted upon.

- 'Whoﬁ did you lcave them with?

K-__With the Marine guard, to be passed on today to the girl who handles
_§isitors' mail.

- Do you think tney have been seen by any officers of the smbussy?

- I.wouldn't suppose so. They were sealed.

-~ Didn't you discuss your case yesterday with one of the bmbassy officers?

- I saw no one but the Marine guard.

-~ You acted.much too hastily, said Vladimir Alekseevich sternly. You
should have shown greater patience. This is a most unpleasant development.
Do you thlnk you can get the iinstructions back before they are read?

- I'm sure I can., They were left there only for safe-keeping.

. Vladimir Mikhailovich, who up to t:is point had taken no part in
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the questioning, now spoke up and asked me to describe the organization
of the Department of Statc. I replied in some detail, describing the
relationships which are apparent from any ormanization chart of the De-
partment. I assumed he must be foirly familiar with the subject; if he
were interested, he could find the sume matcerial in any textbook on lAmeri-
~can foreign relations. But Russians tend to be suspicious of the printed
word, and are always seeking to test such infor.i.tion agrinst human sour-
ces. 1 had encountered the same trait in Soviet diplomats I had known.
"He showed particular iunterest in chain-of-command relaticnships, the
funcfions and responsibilities of officials on v.rious lev:ls (Under'
Sedretaries, Assistant Secrotaries, Office Directors, Special Assistants,
Desk Officers) and the structure of the various operating units (bureaus,
' offices; desks).

Vhen this discussion was completed Vladimir Hikhailovich give what
I tobk to be a sign to n1iis colleague. 'The police officer then informed
me thét my conduct since the incident had been satisfuctory, that they
nad been favorably impressed with my background and knowledge, and that
" they had decided to achpt my proposal, i.e. that the criminal charges
be dropped and that I be permitted to continue my jouraey as planned, on
one condition: that I agreed to write and publish nothing about my cxperi-
ence., L said that this was acceptable to me.

" Vladimir Alesscevich then erid that it would be necessary to prepare
a prptocol incorporating this understanding. He thereupon dictated, and
I wrote down aand sipned, a statement addre:sed to the Ministry of the in-
terior of the U.5.S.R. incorporating the above tu.rms.

One other thing, said Vladimir Alekseevich., He was very coucerned lest
the Bmbussy get wind of tuis affuir. It was most unfortunate that I had
left my letter of instructions with the imbassy. 1t was essential that I
" recover it the same diy. 1 said I would,

Vladlmlr Ilikhailovich now reentered the discusgion. e said the case
apainst me was now concluded and taat 1 was fce to come and go as I wished
. and_to.complete my trip if I so desired. They had found it helpful to talk
fo mé and would like to be able to countinue to consult with me from time to
timé upon my return to Vashington. tould I be willing to meet occusionally
with some one froam the Loviet Emb.s:y at, say, the National Press Club?

. Furthermore, they could be of co siderable help to me on any future trips
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to the Soviet Union. The upcoming Party Congress in October, for instance,
would be a very important event; if I attended it he could promise to arrange
for me some useful contacts with important larty fipures.

I replied that at the present time my major interest and menns of live-
* 1ihood was journalism, but that I was first and for:most a patriotic Ameri-
can citizen, and that I would refuse to engupe in any secret, subversive or
underhanded activities. On the other hand, I had contacts in many othe
fmbassies in Washington which were presumably mutually advantageous, and
it would certainly be useful to have one in the ioviet kEmbassy, where at
the moment I had none. 1My only condition was that such a contact be con-
pletely open and above-board, as were all the otiers.

We left it at that, with Vladimir A. again admonishing me to recover
the letter of instructions, and Vladimir M. promising to be inﬁouch with
me againe

I went to the &mbnssy the same evening and phoned Mr. McSweeney fronm
the guard's desk. He invited me to come down to nis avartment to talk to
him; I sugrested that instcad we talk in his office. He agreed, and [
informed him that the charges agninst me had been droppaed aud that I was
free to coatinue my journey; that the Soviet authorities did not know
 that the smbassy wus familiar with the case, although they were clearly
" uneasy on this score; and that I had been instructed to recover my letter
of instructions immediately. Ubr. McSweeney said that his advice to me,
and he was sure the Ambassador's as well, would be not to attempt to con-
tinue the trip, but to leave the country as quiciily as possible. I said
T felt I had certain obligitions to my publischer, but that [ understood
the grounds for his advice (in his position wmine would have been the same) ,
and that I would give it serious considerstion.

I did not in frct recover the letter of instructionc, wihich was locked
up in the. vault and which ir. McSweeney undertooik to destroy. 1 had provided
against this contingency, ‘owever, by bringing with me to the lmbassy the
additioual letters which I had prepared that day. L1 now returned to my
hotel with them, tore them up and threw them in my waste busket.

I did indeed give serious thought to the smbassy's advice about leaviag
the country as soon as possible. wventually I decided against it on two
dounts: first, I had made a voint with all my interropators of my desire

to continue my trip to its planned coaclusion. If I know suddenly packed
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up and left; it might be interpreted as a confession on my part of the

truth of the charges which had beea directed at me. This at all costs
I was anxious to avoid. Second, I had come to the Soviet Union with cer=
tain specific things in mind which I wished to do and see. Since I was

making the trip on behalf nnd at the expeanse of my euployer, 1 felt that

"I should complete it as planned if this were at all feasible. It now

‘seemed to me entirely feasible; I Telt reasonably confident that there

would be no further unpleasant incidents. In this Judgmzat I was quite
Viadimir M. called the ifollowing dy (July 4) to inquire whether I

- had retrieved the letter of instructions and to ansk sbout my plans, I

assured him that ceverything was all right and that I intended to continue
my trip. At the Embassy reception that afternoon 1 was merely able to
shake hands with the Ambassador (whom I was seeiny for the first time on
this trip) and Mr. McSweeney in the receiving liue. They were busily en-
gaped performing their social obli;atio.s and awaiting the expected arrival
of Khrushchev, and I had no opportunity to tell them of my decision. I did,
however, tell the consul, ilr. Wise, that I was takin,, off again and asked
him to puss this word along to ir. McSweeney, wiich he undertook to do,
That same evening I flew to Leningrad.

I could not see that my stay in Leninprad differed in any rerypect
from my normal experience on the tourist circuit. Intourist seemed to be
no more attentive than usual; some things went vell, some badly. I had a
comfortiable room =t the Astoria, whiich wns in nccordance with my de luxe
accommodations. My gulde wns iatellipent and nelpful. On tne first day
I asked for an appointaient with a member of the reiszional econonic council
(Sovnarihoz) and permission to visit a factory. Tiis was in accordance with
arrangements I had made before my trip to Central Asia with awn acquaintance
wiio is a staff member of the State Scientific and "Yechnical Committee (Mr.
Polyakov), which had already enabled me to vicit some other plants. On
the final day of my stay in Leningrad permission came through.
Pirst Mos interview. - On the morning of July 8 (a Saturday) I arrived
in Moscow by train, was met at the station, and put up at the Leningradskaya
Hotel. Shortly thereafter I received a telephone call from Vladimir Me who
asked me to meet him at the Sovetskayva iliotel (roon 133) at noon. Ile was

alone in the room when I entered, and clearly upsel. The Embassy had
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called the hotel while I was in Leningrad and inguired abount my vhercaboutls.
Why would they do that? Surely they suspected something.

I said I did not know; there were several reacons why the bmbassy
might want to get in touch with me. Perhaps there was a itelcgran for me,
as there had been on a previous occasion when 1 was not in iloscow and they
were unable to deliver it; perhaps the Ambassador or iir. McSweeney wanted
to invite me to some function. 1 sBaw nothing sinister about it. But Vladi=-
mir M. 8id. He went over the whole incident of the letter of instructious
again, speculating s he went. Depositing a letter for safekeeping with
instructions to open it if it were not picked up within a certain period
of time would arousc suspicion, would it not? Surcly some one at the nm-
baséy had read it and was familiar with its conteats. Hence the telephone
call. How would I have reacted if 1 nad been faced with such an incident
when I was serving at the bmbassy?

I admitted that in such a situation 1 might well have had suspicions,
but I said that he must understand how American embassies work., If an offi-
cer knew about it, that was one thing. But in the hands of the mail clerk
was something else again. Hundreds of pieces ol mail for travelling Ameri=-

cans passed through the Lmbassy every week. fThe mail clerk could not be

"curious about all of them. mbassy personnel were accustomed to bizarre

"requests from American correspondents. 1 had seen no sign that the letter

had been tampered with, and felt sure that had it been read the .mb:ssy
would have been in touch with me. 1 wus coufident that the telephone call
was guite innocent.

Viadimir M. was not at all confident; thnis thing obviously worried
him, and my explanation had done 1little to reassure him. Iilad no one at
the Embassy reception on the Fourth warned me against continuing my trip?

I answered in tlie negative.

lle was reluctant to drop the matter, but there seened no point in

‘discussing it further in tue face of my statements. lle asked me to check

" on the telephone call and let him know, and our brief interview was ended.

I went directly to the umbussy with the sole purpose of picking up my
mail, wpich I was unable to do since by this time it was afternoon and the
imbassy was closed. On this occasion I made no cfiort to get in touch with
either the Ambassador or lirs McSweeney. L did, howecver, leave with the

Marine guard a note for ..r. itcSweeney explaining weoy 1 had decided to

‘gontinue my trip and outlining my plans for the iumediate future.
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At the Bmbassy I had run into two or threes of the junior ofijicers
who, so far as I know, had no knowled;e of my problem. ‘'hen I returned
to the hotel I called Vliadimir Ry told him I conlg throw no further Light
“on the telephone call, and added that the oflicers I had seen hag expressed
no dissent when I told them that I was continuing: my trip. He askeg whom
I had seen and I tolg him. Ve left it at that, and I was off that night
for Stalinprad.

Second Moscow Interview. - Oh this leg of my trip, which lasted = week

.and included Stalingrad, a trip by boat through the Volga-Don Caual, and
Rostov-on-Don, everything proceeded norwally. I was not met at the Staline
grad airport, where I arrived about 10.3%0 Pem., a.d was submcquently told
by Intourist that they had not been advised that 7 was coming. Otherwise
they were attentive in their usual fisbion and arranged factory visits for
‘me both in Stalingrad and in Rostov-on-Don.

In my meetin on July 8 with Vladimir . at the Sovetskaya ijotel he
had said that he might come to Rostov-on~Don while T was there so that,
L'as he so nicely put it, "we could chat in a more leisurely atmosphereﬁ.

I heérd nothing mor: from him, however, and returned to iioscow as Planned
on July 14, The Polish visa for wiich I had applieq before leuving Viashe
ingtoﬁ at the end of May had, I learned, still not been approved, so I
booked for Vieana on the first available plane, HMonday, July 1v.

On the morning of July 15 I snw Ambassudor LThompson briefly at the
Lmbassy and made an appointment to sce him the following g%;égﬁgmn. That
afternoon Vliadimir ii. phoned and asked to visit me in my suite (thic time
I was lodpred at the Hotel Berlin). He stayed about an hour, vhat was
the Embissy reiction to my trip? he wonted to know. No reaétion as for
as I knew, I replied. I was going to see the Ambassador the next day;
perhapslthen tiere would be soue reaction,

Viadimir M. now returned to the subject which seemed to interest him
most: the ties of FKmbassy personnel with CIA. T told him.I could add
nothing to what I had said on this subject in our e rlier discussion.

It was well known, he 6aid, that CIA coanducted operations of various types
against the Soviet Union. Who in the Embussy checked on these operations?
I snid I could only speculate, but it seemed to me that the Embossy in
Moscow,'where the personnel wug under constant surveillance, would be the

last place to try to check on clandestine operations directed against the

. b - 76R000800090011-5
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Soviet Union. I could only assume that whatever checking micght occur

\ﬂ

would be done from outside.

This did not conform to Vladimir M.'s preconceived ideas or, I s5up=-

pose, to the Soviet pattern, and he refused to stop worrying this bone.

We went down the list of various functions in the umbassy:

=~ Vhat about administrative and fiscal officers? Do they work for CIA?

= I would think it hiphly doubtful. These are technical functions for
which the Department of State provides special troining. Obviously any
type 6f cover is conceivable, but I would be surprised to find CIA per-
sonnel in such posts.

- Security officers?

= Again unlikely, since this is a highly intimate function involving
the Department's own personnel. I belicve some Department security offi=-
cers do have FBI backgrounds.

- Protocol officersy

- Almost inconceivable. This vost in an Bmbassy is usually considered
ag a trainiag assigament for junior Foreign Service officers, porticularly
those with a fondness for the social aspects of diplomatic life.

~ Consular officers?

~ Perhaps here the possibility for cover assipnments is greater. But

in an establishment where the number & persounel is strictly limited, such

o as the Moscow Embassy, I would suprose thut officers assigned to consular

work werc thorouphly legimitate.

-~ Why are consular officers often transferred to diplomatic work?

- It‘is part of the training program for younger officers. Consular
work in Moscow is cousidered good cxperience; it acquaints officers with

housekeeping problems. I myself headed the consular section when I first

rcame to Moscow. Later they are transferred to reposrting work.

- What about publications procurement officers?

- 1 do not exclude tie possibility, but it secms to me unlikely, Funds
for tiuis job are supplied, I believe, by tke Library of Congpress, and the
Department cousiders it excellent training for young languapge officers.

- Aré CIA opecratives nent out as milit ry attacnés?

- Not to my knowledge. It is more apt Lo work the other way: that

military personnel works for CIA on svecial ussignnmests. I have never

" heard of a military attaché port being used for cover wnurposes.

-1

- Does the FBI have rcprescntatives in eabassies abroad?

- I Abﬁf&i{éwﬁer RéleaseR200#0129¢ CIARRPSBO1676R0008000900115:5 ts of

SECRET



: ¢

oF

S

Apprd\ied For Release 2003/01/29: &'\6 DP80B01676R000800090011-5

the United‘States. Before World War II they had special responsibilities
in certain embassies in Latin America. 1 believe this is no longer the
base..‘ '
«  What kind of responsibilities?
- Anti-Nazi work, as I remember. Combatting Nuzi subveroive activities.
Vladimir M. novi embarked on what seemed to m: a rather curious roticnali-
zation of why the case aguinst me had been dropped. 1 was not young, a

person of some standing, with long expcrience in Loviet affairs; I worked

for a'reputable, well-known publication; trnere had already been some un-

pleasant incideats this year with Anericcn tourists, and they had no wish

to multiply them; Soviet-American relations were touchy euough without add-

ing more fuel to the fire; nor did they want to scare off American tourircts.
All well and good, I thought, but equally true before the trap. You are
avoiding the real reasons: a bungled job which would not stand up under
critical examination and would receive no credence abroad, and their having
satisfied.themselves that ia fact I did not have an intellijpence mission =
more from surveillance and analysis of my activities, I should thiank, than
from anything that transovired duri g the interrogations., ’ '

Having spoken his piece, Vliadimir . took his leave, after first

inviting me to have lunch with him the next day at khimki, on the out-

skirts of Moscow, to 'celebrate my depurture.

'Flgnl Interview. - Sunday moraing, July 16, I saw Ambassador Thompson

at the Lmbessy. We discussed my own and siailer cases involving American
citizens briefly, other matters at grecter length. The Ambassador asied
me to have the limbassy at Vienna wire him upon my safe arrival there (this
has been done) and advised me to inform my employers of what had happened
(this I shall do upon my return to the United States). As of this date,
apart from the Soviet officiels involved, I have discusced the incident
with'only three persons: Ambassador Thompson, lkir. McSweeney and Ambassador
Matthews in Vienna.

After my return to the hotel Vladimir .i. phoued to change the locale

‘for our luncheon (the weather being threatening) to the Praga restaurant

in town. I met him there; he was very smartly dressed, even by Westefn
standards, and wearing dark glasses. We had a sumptious luncheon in one
of the public dining rooms (after he had tried unsuccessfully to pet a

privﬁfe room), but he made short shrift of any patrons who showed a. -
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disposition to share our table. The counversation, which ran on for about
two hours and was now in a verfectly friendly tone, pan lnke this:

Vladimir M. asked how my meeting with the Ambassador had gone. well,
I replied. I had told him some of the hignlights of my trip, we had dis-
cussed the internctional situation and indulged ia cnit-chat about mutual
friends. And what did the Ambassador think about the international situa-
tion? I seid I could not undertake to speak for him or to quote him; it
. was my impression that lLe was disappointed that tension was increas sing over
Berlin but that he still hoped an acceptable settiement could be worked out
through negotialions.

iy host asked if I knew .ir. Boalen (ex-Ambassador to Moscow Charles A,
Bohlen). When I said I did, he told me that lr. sohlen had recently pub-
lished his memoirs of the war-time summit conferences which he attended.
I expressed surprise, both tihat I had not heard of such publicotion (1
have since found no confirmation of this assertion) and that it should
‘have occurrcd while Hr. Bohlen.was still in Government service, which 1
s1id w.s not customary. Vladimir M. said that in publishing his mumoirs
Mr. Bohlen had violated a pledge taken by the Buig Three that no country
would publish the rccord of the w:r-time conferences without the conseut
"of the other partners; further that lir. Bohlen was inaoccurate in ascribing
to Stalin the plan for the division of termany, viich was actually proposed
by Churchill.,
| Next he probed my acquaintance among Americau journalists. Did I yaw=

Gilvert Harrison or his brother of the Jew gepublic? I did not. Charles

Bartlett of‘the Chattanoogn Wimes? Noj actually, 1 said, my acquaintance

among journalists was pretty much limited to those who are in some way

connected with the Soviet field. John Scott? Yes, 1 had known him casually
for years. What did 1 think of him? I thought him a competent journalist.
What about his politics? I kanew nothing about his political ideas.

Vladimir M. now reverted to the subject of the useful contacts which
could be arranged for me if I attended the Party Congress and means of
establishing contact with an smbassy represcntat.ve in Washington. ile
sugsested that 1 might meet such a represen.ative at the ticker in the
Hatiounl Press Club., I said 1 had no objrctioan bul that it scemed rather
a congested place; what about the qayflowery He countcred with the
["lame ResEau§§H€7?$ﬁf§§ “vggggdxycglly, in the past has been a meebling-

place for me with staunch anti-communists!). Ag.in, no objection on
Approved For Release 2003/01/29 : CIA-RDP80B01676R000800090011-5
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my part. How would they contact m:? Simple enough; call me at my office,
like everyone clse does., And I gave him my oifice phoue number and exten-
sion, 'These very tentative arrangements seemed to suffice; I would not

be contacted in less than six months' time, he said. That would make it
January, 1962.

One more point remained to be arranged. If I should go sbroad aguin
within this six months' period, I should let them know. How? through the
Sovigt imbassy in Washington? It seewmed a normal way. Ile looked at me
rather pityingly. Did I have a friend at the lnmb.ssy in Moscow? I could
write him through the open mail énd tzll him I was coming. 1t was my turn
to mock. I would never wrile anyone in the lioscow Embassy through the open
-mail. But I knew some of the American correspondents in Moscow? Yes, I
knew Heary Shapiro.

~ Write Shapiro and tell him you are coming.

- I would have no reason to write Shapiro about my plans.

~ I can assure you Shapiro will nevar get the letter.

Shapiro is a Moscow correspondent of long standing. I am sure it
“would be no news to hear that his mail is being read; but he might be
surprised to learn that he is being used as a mail drop.

~If, furthermore, I should be assigned to cover tae Party Congress,

- which Vladimir M. obviously very much hopes and desires, I should say when
applying for my visa that when in HMoscow I was invited to coue back for
the Congress by the Zhukov Committee for Relations with Foreign Countriles,
more gpecifically by Mr. Krylov, formerly Cultural Attaché at the Soviet
Embassy in Washington, and now on the staff of th: Committee in Moscow.

_ In this way we parted. V3iadimir M. drove me back to my hotel and
wished me well. There seemed no doubt that in his mind I was uis agent
and he was my case officer. If there had ever been the leaslt doubt about
it, it was now clear that whatever 'consultation" wns intended would be
on a conspiratorial basis, even though I have no knowledge of or access
to anything in the way of secret or classified material. JPerhaps the
Soviets know of no other way to operate.

On‘the morning of July 17 I flew off from Moscow on a Soviet airliner.
Customs examination at Kiev was routine., Uy afternoon I was in Vienna.

It was a plecasant and relaxing sensation.

Conclusions. =~ To summarize, in my opinion I was trapped on orders from
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assignment.. I was released when the Hoscow authorities were satisfied

that they had no case against ne.

Excépt for the second interrogation in Samarkand on the first day,

I was uniformly trcated courteously and considerately and subjected to

no pressures of any kind. 1t was this attitude as much as anything which

made me confident throughout that the ultimate outcome would be favorable.
I was surprised both by the apparent lack of knowledge of my inter-

rogators about the most simple relationships in the Anerican Government

and in the Department of Stote, and by their clearly-revealed ignorance

. of the details of my activities in Germany during the years 1049-1%51, STAT

_As an ola interrogator myself, I thought their interropgation techniques STAT

were superficial and ineffective.

- As for Vladimir M. and his little game, I don't gquite know what to

make of it, But it wonld be naive to suppose that I have heard the last

~of him., If and when an approach is made to me, 1 shall want to have prompt

()

25X1

access to official advice and guidance.

Vienna, Austria.
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